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Meetings and Speakers 

Thursday 12 September 2019   

Patrick Dodd, State Library NSW 

John Macarthur – Visionary or villain 

Thursday 10 October 2019 

Peter Sage, Traveller/speaker 

Bicentennial Memories

 

Meetings start in the School of Arts, Bowns Rd/Queens Ave at 2 pm with the speaker. This is 

followed by afternoon tea and a chance to mingle with other members, then a short business 

meeting. We aim to finish by 4 pm.  Apologies for non-attendance should go to the Secretary, 

Gill Whan (9546 4623).  

 

Find us on Facebook  
 

 

 

The Bush Brother with dog and A Model Ford – see story inside.  Also in this issue Part 1 of the winning 

entry in the 2019 History Awards – ‘Mayor Hanigan and the Influenza epidemic’ 

Charlie Stannard, tram conductor1932.  Note the money bag around 

his neck and the book for issuing tickets. Story inside 

http://www.kogarah.historicalsociety.com.au/
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Mondays at the Museum 

23 September 2019 

Diary of a Wild Life Carer 

Wendy Agzarian, our own Committee member, artist and wild life carer will tell us 

about some of her fascinating experiences and how to look after our precious fauna.  

We start as always at 10 am with morning tea.  Admission is $5.00 which covers your home-

cooked morning tea and gives you a chance to win our lucky door prize.  For bookings please 

contact Adele on 9529 6730. Leave a message on her answering machine if she is not there. 

 

Sunday Museum Roster 
Opening hours 1pm – 4pm in September/October (winter hours) 

 

  

 

 

 

Problems: If you need to exchange days on the regular roster, please try to do so amongst 

yourselves, otherwise contact Wendy Agzarian (9774 3667) Emergency roster – Anne 

Williams (0425 215 589), Cath &  Leo Sullivan (9579 6149), Barbara Davids (9389 6742) 

Committee 2019 (*denotes Executive)  

President:*     Beverley Earnshaw 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

   

                 

Photo Gwen Coxhead 

 

The official opening of 

the Carss Park reserve as 

a public recreation area 

took place on 

Ph: 9546 1091 

Vice President:* Adele Ryan Ph. 9593 1898 

   Secretary :* 

OfficerOfficer 

 

 

 

 

  

Gill Whan Ph: 9546 4623 

Treasurer:* Cath Sullivan Ph: 9579 6149 

Public Officer* Robert McGarn Ph: 0425 706 579 

Committee Members: Wendy Agzarian, Barbara Davids, Glynn Pulling, Rodger Robertson,    

Mavis Ward, Pat Young. 

Committee Meeting Venues:    

9 Sept      2 pm   Gill Whan, 11 Dewrang St., Carss Park (9546 4623)   

7 Oct 2 pm   Adele Ryan, 5 Endeavour St., Sans Souci (9529 6730) 

11 Nov    2 pm  Pat Young, 25  Culver Street, Monterey (9593 1898) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

September 2019 

1
st
    Heather Campbell & Pat Young 

8
th

   
 
Betty Goodger & tba 

15
th

 Anne Williams & Fiona Johnstone  

22
th

 Gill Whan & Robert McGarn 

29
th

 Cath and Leo Sullivan       

October 2019 

6
th

       Wendy Agzarian & Elaine Filewood 

13
th

     Adele Ryan & Joe Spinelli 

20
th

  Betty Goodger & Gill Whan      

27
th

 
 

Miriam & Niver Rodriguez 

 

 

 

 

Don’t miss Patrick Dodd 

He gave a wonderful talk about Governor Macquarie last year and we have asked him 

back.  This time his presentation is on John Macarthur – Visionary or Villain.   

Patrick is the Founder and President of the Macquarie Society, a Volunteer Guide at the 

State Library of NSW on History and Heritage tours and a Public Speaker. He is also a 

Macquarie Lighthouse Volunteer Guide and Public Speaker with the Sydney Harbour 

Federation Trust.  
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Kogarah’s Amazing Achievers 

Archdeacon Leslie Clyde Smith Walker 

Bush Brother 

 
Leslie Walker was a child of our local area. He was born 

at Hurstville on July 6, 1896, son of William Walker and 

his wife, Minnie (nee Smith). Their family home at 27 The 

Boulevarde Sans Souci is still there and Les was educated 

at Kogarah school. 

 In 1914 he was employed by Kogarah Council and 

rose to become the youngest Deputy Town Clerk ever 

appointed. But at the same time he was a devoted 

supporter of his local church, St.Pauls Kogarah, and its 

branch church, St.Andrews Sans Souci. He belonged to 

St.Pauls Servers’ Guild, was Sunday School 

Superintendent at St.Andrews Sans Souci, and in May, 

1918 he was licenced as a lay-reader for the St.George 

District, which meant he could take services and preach. 

 In 1922 he abandoned his career in local 

government in order to study for the Church of England 

ministry eventually becoming an Archdeacon. His burning desire was to join the Bush 

Brotherhood, a band of itinerant ministers who travelled long circuits to visit isolated or 

lonely people in outback Australia. He joined the Brotherhood of the Good Shepherd which 

was based in Dubbo in order to serve far western NSW. At that time people in these remote 

places had no radio, no telephone, and no newspapers.  

 The Brothers signed on for an agreed period, usually five years at a time, during which 

they agreed not to marry, to work wherever directed and to receive a small allowance in lieu 

of a stipend. In the early years of the order they travelled on horseback but from the late 

1920s horses were superseded by motor vehicles. The Brothers held services in shearing 

sheds, homesteads, bush churches, stations and farms. They married couples and baptized 

children, but as well as their pastoral responsibilities, individual Brothers were placed in 

charge of districts, each of which had a central town. Les Walker served as a much loved 

pastor in the districts of Bathurst, Mudgee, Brewarrina and Gilgandra but travelling an 

outback circuit often kept him from base for weeks on end. He became something of an 

‘outback legend’. 

 In 1932 he became Vice Principal of the Brotherhood of the Good Shepherd and in 

1944 became its Principal. He retired in 1962 and that year he received the Order of the 

British Empire for his services to outback Australia. 

 In 1973 he married a widow, Doris Edwards, who was actually his nephew’s mother-

in-law but their time together was short. Les Walker died of a heart attack in Dubbo Base 

Hospital on October 6, 1975. 

By Beverley Earnshaw 

 

 
Why is it that at class reunions you feel younger than everyone else looks? 
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Growing up in the 40s and 50s 

By Yvonne Hawkins 

Rocky Point Road and I go back a long way, in fact, this year 2019 is our 70
th

 anniversary. 

She of course is a lot older than me. In early days she was little more than a dirt track 

when the first settlers of the area made their homes on the sleepy little peninsular of Sans 

Souci. Back then she was flanked by Chinese market gardens, the odd dairy, a smattering of 

local shops and modest cottages. 

In 1887 a tram was introduced, travelling from the train station at Rockdale, looping 

around the Sans Souci peninsular and visitors flocked to the area to enjoy the beaches. 

In 1937 the tram tracks were dug up and trolley buses were introduced. These were 

running when my association with Rocky Point Road began 70 years ago, when we moved 

from our little 1 bedroom weatherboard home in Canterbury to our run-down brick home at 

687 Rocky Point Road, Sans Souci. Our neighbours, mostly relatives, could not understand 

why we would move from the well populated suburb of Canterbury to live out in the sticks at 

Sans Souci. 

However, we settled in quickly and Rocky Point Road became our playground. There 

was a wide grassy island in the middle of the road, with a break at each side street and with 

just two lanes of traffic in each direction.  This island was our cricket pitch, only interrupted 

each hour on the hour, when the small punt running between the very end of Rocky Point 

Road, Sans Souci and Taren Point, deposited a few cars onto the road. The punt was 

eventually replaced with a larger vessel, but it still only interrupted us once every hour. 

Soft blue street lights hung down the centre of the road to light the way at night. She 

was constructed from concrete, with expansion strips at regular intervals, so there was always 

the rhythmical thud of tyres passing over to lull us to sleep. Her gutters ran deep with 

rainwater during storms and we revelled in taking our shoes off and walking home from 

school in the gushing water. 

I lived only ten houses south of the Public School that I attended, as did my 

prospective husband. By the time our kids attended 

there, they were the fourth generation of Hawkins 

to attend the school. 

Each spring, traffic was halted and a large 

procession began snaking its way from Ramsgate, 

down Rocky Point Road and up Endeavour Street 

to officially open our school fete. It was heralded 

by a number of bands from the Police Band, Pipe 

bands and local council marching bands, and was 

always led by a gallant knight on a white horse. 

The school children dressed in their Scout, Brownie or Red Cross uniforms proudly marched 

behind the banner representing their group. There were decorated floats and many children 

riding their bikes that had been elaborately decorated with colourful crepe paper.  It was a real 

highlight of the school year. 

Endeavour Street, with a slight hill and a rough gravel surface made the ideal billycart 

course as we raced towards Rocky Point Road, hoping that we would skid to a stop before we 

reached the cement of the main road and the traffic.  Often this resulted in skinned knees or 
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elbows and gravel rash, treated with lavish dousings of fizzy Hydrogen Peroxide or Witch 

Hazel to ward off infection. It didn’t deter us from building bigger, better and faster billycarts. 

On summer nights we all sat together on our front veranda and steps with our 

neighbours, chatting and enjoying a drink and snacks.  

As kids we counted the cars that passed and kept track of the make of each. There 

were very few varieties of cars back then - Holdens, Chevs, Fords or Austins.  We drew 

hopscotch grids on her footpaths and hid behind our hedge with a penny on fishing line that 

we pulled back when someone went to pick it up. 

The trolley buses were eventually replaced with diesel buses in 1959 and the traffic 

increased at an alarming rate.  The road was widened, swallowing up our grassy little 

paradise, and the gaps at each side street were closed off.  The water troughs that dotted the 

street corners to provide refreshment for the horses were replaced by traffic lights to control 

the increasing flow of traffic. Somewhere down the track the road was renumbered and our 

house became 431. 

In 1965, Rocky Point Road changed forever. At her very end the punt was replaced 

with the six-lane Captain Cook Bridge. 

She has witnessed me being whisked off to my wedding in a swanky black Ford 

Galaxy convertible hire car and has seen my babies pushed up her footpath in their prams, 

later riding their scooters and bikes to the local shops with their mates. 

Corner stores have given way to supermarkets and modest little cottages have been 

torn down and replaced by multistorey units, all spewing more and more traffic onto her 

sturdy surface. 

She never has a moment of peace now with a constant stream of traffic pounding her 

surface with relentless noise and speed, day and night.  Traffic lights at regular intervals grind 

the traffic to a stop, digging their tyres into her surface, which is now regularly under repair.  

No more kids playing on her surface or riding their bikes. 

It’s almost impossible to cross her as you teeter on the miniscule remnant of the island 

in her centre or to emerge from your driveway into the torrent of cars speeding up or down 

her six lanes, met by a cacophony of horns from drivers, too impatient to pause momentarily 

to let you exit your driveway in safety. 

She has witnessed many accidents, some serious or fatal, no wonder when you 

consider the sheer number of vehicles that now use her as a highway from North to South but 

it’s hard to believe there are so many accidents on that dead straight stretch. 

One accident was to our own first ever brand new car which we had parked out the 

front of our home. A driver, leaving Mick Moylan’s’ Pub and a bit under the weather, 

misjudged the turn from Ida Street onto Rocky Point Road and ran up the back of our pride 

and joy, pushing the front into a telegraph pole.   

There has always been talk of diverting traffic from her to another freeway a little 

further to the east. I hope I live to see the day when she may be returned again to a more 

peaceful thoroughfare. 

Now that would be what I consider progress! 

 

Thank you Yvonne for sharing your memories with us.  Yvonne is a member of KHS.  

The editor is always pleased to receive articles to be considered for publication. 

 

 
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Mayor Hanigan and the 

Influenza Epidemic 
 

(This is part 1 of the winning entry by 

John MacRitchie in the 2019 History Awards) 

 

In late 1918, an epidemic of pneumonic 

influenza swept the globe.  Australia escaped its 

early stages, but as 1919 began it became clear 

that a major public health challenge was 

imminent.  The presence in key civic posts of 

energetic and well-organised individuals would 

be vital in combatting the disease. 

In Kogarah, the Mayor was George 

Hanigan, shown in a surviving photograph as a 

likeable, curly-haired man, with a mischievous-

looking moustache.  George William Percy 

Hanigan was born at Redfern on 8 April 1876 to 

George and Mary Anne (nee Marr) Hanigan; his father died before he was born
1
, and a great 

influence on him as he grew up was his mother’s father, a retired Scottish sea-captain.
2
  

George entered the NSW civil service in October 1899 and was initially employed in the 

Mines Department as ‘Engrossing and Assistant Search Clerk’ on a salary of £180 a year. 

He married Amy Eliza Dark at Newtown in 1901.
3
  They had five children: Mary 

Doris, born Newtown in 1902; Annie Jean, born at Clarence River in 1903; Victor George, 

born at Hurstville in 1909; Jack Broughton, born at Hurstville in 1915; and James Neate, born 

at Hurstville in 1917.  His work occasionally took him on secondment around the State 

investigating mining leases, which may explain the Clarence River birth. 

George worked his way up the civil service ladder, earning promotion in 1909 and 

1910
4
, and by 1918 had become ‘Search Clerk and Warden’s Clerk, Sydney’ in the 

Ministerial Branch of the Department of Mines, on a salary of £299 a year, with good 

prospect of further advancement.  Presumably he found Hurstville a convenient locality for 

the morning commute to work.  His work brought him into contact with interesting 

individuals such as his close colleague in the Department, Arthur Bassett Hull, later the 

President of the Royal Zoological Society of NSW. 

The Hanigan family had come to Hurstville in the mid-1900s, and by 1913 they were 

settled at Matthew Street, Hurstville (later renamed Hillcrest Avenue).  They were 

Methodists, so may have attended either Hurstville Methodist Church, in The Avenue, or 

Kogarah Methodist Church in Kensington Street.   

 

 

                                                 
1
 Sydney Morning Herald 19 January 1876, p12. 

2
 Captain William Marr, from North Berwick, Scotland. 

3
 NSW BDM 9810/1901. 

4
 NSW Government Gazette 13 January 1909 p248; 26 October 1910 p5911. 
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In common with many men at that time, 

George belonged to more than one Masonic 

Lodge.  He was a founder member of Lodge 

Hurstville No 282, and attended the Lodge’s 

dedication in July 1913 as Junior Deacon.
5
  Later 

he became the Lodge’s Worshipful Master.  He 

would have found it a useful body to belong to in 

furthering his civic aspirations.   

His name was not mentioned in the local 

press prior to the Municipal Elections of 

February 1914.  However he was obviously well-

liked locally, because when he stood for election 

to Kogarah Council he topped the poll for West 

Ward with 218 votes, just ahead of two better-

known men on the same ticket, commercial artist 

William Coleborne and architect Charles 

Halstead, a former Mayor of Kogarah.
6
 

As an Alderman, George had the useful 

gift of making no enemies.  The time of Aldermen was largely taken up with petty matters, 

and his work in his first term on Council was spent on the minutiae of potholes, ballasting and 

road metal.  He gave most of his energies to local fund-raising for relief appeals, and 

contributed his time to St George Cottage Hospital.  He was happy to perform songs at social 

gatherings and his fine baritone voice which occasionally earned him encores is mentioned in 

several press reports. 

George became a JP in June 1917.
7
  That month, he was happy to move a motion at a 

Kogarah Council meeting, recording the district’s pride at the conferral of the Military Cross 

on Captain William R C Robertson, and the Distinguished Conduct Medal on Sergeant Ernest 

Tidmarsh (a former pupil of Kogarah Public School) and Sergeant George J Hughes.
8
  In the 

municipal elections of that year, he was re-elected to represent West Ward with 402 votes, 

again topping the poll.
9
  His two running mates, William Coleborne and Charles Shields, were 

also elected, and George was elected as Mayor. 

The obligations of being Mayor were considerably more than being an Alderman, and 

his time was fully engaged.  He convened and chaired a meeting held at Kogarah School of 

Arts on 31 July 1917 to establish a Kogarah Roll of Honor.
10

  A few weeks later he convened 

a meeting to organise a ‘War Chest’ Day of fund-raising.  He led a deputation to advocate for 

a tram to Tom Ugly’s Point, a long-running campaign which was not resolved in his time on 

Council. 

During the conscription debate he does not appear to have taken a strong position.  He 

was not a ‘fire-breather’, like some of the Mayors in other suburbs, preferring to direct his 

energies to fund-raising for bodies such as the Red Cross, in which activity he was joined by 

                                                 
5
 Sydney Morning Herald 11 July 1913, p10. 

6
 St George Call 7 February 1914, p3. 

7
 St George Call 30 June 1917, p7. 

8
 St George Call 16 June 1917, p3. 

9
 St George Call 7 July 1917, p5. 

10
 St George Call 3 August 1917, p1. 

Mrs Amy Hanigan, nee Dark 
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his wife.  In December 1917, Mrs Hanigan convened a meeting to form a Kogarah branch of 

the British Red Cross Society, and was elected the branch’s first President.
11

  In April 1918, 

the Hanigans organised the West Ward Red Cross Fete held in the grounds next to their 

residence in Hillcrest Avenue. 

His first year as Mayor went well enough, and on 4 February 1918 George was 

unanimously re-elected Mayor.
12

  On 8 June he attended the handing over of a cottage built 

by the Kogarah Voluntary Workers’ Association to Sergeant William Payne.  Nine of 

Sergeant Payne’s ten brothers had given their lives fighting for the Empire, five of them at the 

Battle of Mons.
13

  

It was to be a year in which there were many calls on the Mayor, and in August 1918 

both he and his wife contracted influenza and had to cancel various engagements.
14

  He was 

back in harness the following month and convened a meeting on 2 October 1918 to ask for 

volunteers to raise money for the seventh War Loan; fewer than a dozen people showed up.  

“This is quite enough to dampen the ardour of any man,” commented the St George Call.
15

 

As Mayor, it fell to him to announce the news of the Armistice, to be received from 

the Premier’s Office by telephone, to the gathering crowds outside the Municipal Chambers 

on the evening of 11
th

 November.  But the telephone message never came through. Hanigan 

was the right man for the occasion - in the end he took matters into his own hands and from 

the porch he announced that as far as was known, the war was over.  He then led the assembly 

in singing the National Anthem, before marching everyone to the Railway Station where he 

repeated the announcement, after which things became loud and lively, what with trains 

sounding their whistles, boys banging on tin cans and spontaneous singing.
16

   

Later in the week, on 16 November 1918, the Governor of New South Wales, Sir 

Walter Davidson, opened a new wing at St George Hospital.
17

  With the additions opened that 

day, stated the president of the Hospital Committee, Henry E Crane, it would be possible to 

attend to very many more patients in the coming year.  Mayor Hanigan also spoke, although 

what he said was not reported.  The new buildings had cost £17,000, which had almost 

expended the whole of the hospital’s funds. 

The following day, the Mayor presided at the great combined Thanksgiving Service at 

Kogarah Park to commemorate the victory of the Allies.  He also presided at a welcome home 

to returned soldiers held in the School of Arts on 27 November.
18

  In December 1918, along 

with Thomas Ley, MLA, he led a deputation to the Minister for Lands urging the resumption 

of the whole of Carr’s [sic] Bush as a park for the municipality.
19

  At the end of a very busy 

and eventful municipal term, he led a picnic party of Alderman and Council staff up the 

George’s River to picnic grounds at East Hills, where sports and games were indulged in.  

“Alderman Hanigan took part in an exciting game of leap-frog” recorded the Call, “but  

retired early with bellows to mend.”
20

  He appears to have had the gift of spreading goodwill 

all round.   To be Continued in next newsletter. 

                                                 
11

 St George Call 15 December 1917, p5. 
12

 St George Call 9 February 1918, p4. 
13

 St George Call 15 June 1918, p7. 
14

 St George Call 31 August 1918, p4. 
15

 St George Call 5 October 1918, p3. 
16

 St George Call 16 November 1918, p3. 
17

 St George Call 23 November 1918, p6. 
18

 St George Call 30 November 1918, p6. 
19

 St George Call 14 December 1918, p2. 
20

 St George Call 21 December 1918, p2. 
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Trivia Quiz 

By Rodger Robertson 

 

Golf!  (Easier than usual I thought) 

 

1. The Open is otherwise known as? 

2. “Slamming Sam” surname was? 

3. Which Australian has won the most major golf tournaments? 

4. One under par on a hole is a birdie - what is 2 under on a hole called and also three 

under? 

5. The Ryder Cup is played between which two groups? 

6. Jack Nicklaus’s nickname was? 

7. “Arnies army” was associated with which American golfer? 

8. The club used to tee off most is called a ? and the club used on the green is called a ? 

9. Professional golfers have an assistant who carries the bag and gives advice – he is 

called a? 

10.  What does a golfer call out if he is in danger of hitting someone with his ball? 

 

Answers: 

 
 

 
 

What’s On 
 
Georges River Council has produced a printed copy of their 

What’s On and it is available through libraries and at Council 

events.  A most useful booklet and plenty of events to put in the 

diary. 

 

Some highlights include:  Historic Mortdale Photo  Display 

and afternoon tea at Oatley Library on Tuesday 3 September 2 

pm.  Bookings essential  

Author talk by Sue Liu – The Accidental Aid Worker – 19 

September at Kogarah Library, 6.30 pm – 7.30 pm  Bookings 

essential 

Georges River Art Prize 2019 opening and announcement of 

winners on Friday 25 October, 6.00 pm at Hurstville Museum and Art Gallery 

Wordfest – Celebrates all things written, has music, book launches, readings, refreshments. 

Sunday 27 October, 11 am – 3.00 pm  around Carss Cottage.  A must for the diary! 
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History Awards 2019 

 
John MacRitchie was the outright winner of 

our History Awards this year for his essay on 

Mayor Hanigan and the Influenza Epidemic. 

John is the Local Studies Librarian, 

based at Hurstville Library, a position he 

came to from a similar role in Manly and has 

held for a year now.   

He is of Scottish origin and first 

came to  Australia in 2000, to Hurstville 

library, on a job exchange.  While here he 

met and married his wife and the couple 

returned to Scotland until the formalities for 

residence in Australia were completed.  They 

returned in 2002 and now live in Padstow 

and have two children. 

John, as an employee of Georges River Council felt he could not accept the prize 

money and it will be donated to a charity of his choice. 

 

Other entrants included: 

Betty Goodger who wrote the colourful history of Myles McRae 

Laurel Gray whose essay was titled “My Hero’ - the story of Rosemary Gray and  

Graeme Gwilliam who had prepared another chapter in the history of freemasonry, this time 

on Bexley Lodge. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tour of Garden Island 

Thursday 21 November starting at 10 am 

The heritage tour is run by the Naval Historical Society and will include the Kuttabul 

Memorial, the chapel and the top of the Captain Cook Dock.  It will take approximately  

1 ½ hours finishing about 12.15 pm.  There is no café in the vicinity.  It does involve 

quite a lot of walking and some stairs.  Sensible footwear is essential and it will be 

sensible to bring a bottle of water as well as appropriate weather gear. 

It is a secure area which means names of individuals will be provided to the tour 

guides beforehand and photo ID will be necessary on the day. 

The cost is $20 payable when you book. 

Please make your bookings with Cath Sullivan or Gill Whan 

We will travel to Garden Island using the bus from York St (behind the Queen Vic 

building) No 311.  Details of a lunch venue to be provided later. 
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           Member Profile 

Mary Armstrong has been a member of Kogarah 

Historical Society for almost 42 years and has fond 

memories of the people and activities.  She remembers 

that at one time they had almost monthly bus trips to 

different areas of Sydney and even weekends away to the 

Blue Mountains, Orange and as far afield as Mudgee.  

Laurie Curtis, Gwen Cootes and Mary were the 

organisers.  Sometimes the Society met in Carss Cottage 

in the Kogarah room, sometimes at the School of Arts and 

for a while in the Council chambers.  At Christmas they 

had a garden party around the Cottage – chicken and beef 

were on the menu.  Mary and her sister Margaret are both 

members of KHS and Mary is also a member of St George 

Historical Society. 

Mary has a fascinating ancestral history.  Her great grandfather Patrick Dwyer was an 

Irish political prisoner and was sent to Australia as a convict. He was allocated to Coolangatta 

– the first settlement on the South Coast of NSW established by Alexander Berry and Edward 

Wollstonecraft with the help of a grant of 10,000 acres and 100 convicts.  Here at Coolangatta 

Patrick met Ellen Walsh, then 16 years and working as a maid.  They married and had 11 

children, nine girls and two boys. Patrick was killed accidentally before the 11
th

 child was 

born leaving Ellen at age 36 years with 11 

children to care for.  Mary is proud of the great 

grandfather who during his life time was 

instrumental in petitioning and getting the first 

school in the area established at Cambewarra 

(outside Nowra) which is still functioning 

today.  He himself was illiterate and sadly he 

did not live to see his two boys become 

teachers. The original homestead, pictured 

right has become Coolangatta Estate, a thriving 

winery/events/accommodation site. 

One of Patrick’s daughters, Catherine Dwyer also married an Irish man called Michael 

McNamara and they were Mary’s grandparents.  Mary’s mother, Mary McNamara came from 

Lismore and father, Walter Noonan from Mudgee. Mary (Noonan) was born at Stanmore in 

1934 attending Primary School at Annandale – Annandale at that time she says was a rough 

place.  At 13 years she went to St Michael’s at Stanmore and completed the intermediate 

certificate after which she learned shorthand and typing in the city and began working at 

NRMA. After 15 months she went to work for the Railway, at the Redfern office and was 

there for 10 years.  Here, working in the same office was William Armstrong, 13 years her 

senior, an ex-naval man who had served in the war and then returned to the Railway.  They 

were married in November 1959.  Mary recalls that the Railway was one of the few places 

where no-one lost their job in the depression – instead, the Railway rotated positions so that 

everyone got some work. 

Mary and Bill moved to Hurstville in 1963 – they had two daughters, Michelle and 

Suzanne. Bill stayed with the railway and Mary became a full-time housewife.  However, at 

Mary on our trip with the Heritage Fleet 
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age 40 years she went to Blakehurst High School as a Teacher’s Aid.  Bill retired at age 60 

years, she retired too, and they had great plans for the future, but Bill died only five months 

later from a heart attack.  Mary has been alone for 37 years now. 

She has many interests, has travelled extensively, with friends, with family or by 

herself.  Her favourite place is England.  In addition to her membership of Historical 

Societies, she is a member of an Archaeology group which has been meeting twice a month 

for 25 years.  She also goes to a Trivia night weekly, attends lectures that interest her and has 

joined a knitting group.  She remains cheerful and active despite significant problems with 

arthritis but expresses concern at what the world is becoming - she, like most of us, would 

like to see it as a better place. 

Gill Whan 

 

Carss Park War Memorial Pool 

It is worth revisiting the history of this well-known and well-loved local facility given the 

sudden indefinite closure of the pool recently.  It has served the community well for 54 years 

but is now clearly in a ‘parlous’ condition. 

In the 1960s many areas were investigated as 

possible sites for a pool and Carss Park was decided 

upon, due in a large part to the efforts of the Progress 

Association led by Doris Hatton and Elizabeth Corry 

(who both became founding members of Kogarah 

Historical Society).  Many organisations committed 

themselves to raising funds and in 1964, the Building 

Fund forwarded to Council its first cheque.  The pool 

opened for public use in December 1965 and in 1966 an 

official ceremony dedicated it as The Kogarah War Memorial Olympic Swimming Pool in 

honour of all men and women who 

had served Australia in war.  It was 

the only pool that gave free entry to 

all those who had served in a war.  

Council could not afford to 

provide heating and we should 

never forget that Dick Caine who 

became the swimming coach in 

1965 sold his home unit to provide boilers for an oil heating system for the pool, living for 

three years in a caravan.  

It has had an illustrious history, training many past champions – Michelle Ford, 

Janelle Elford, Stacey Gartrell and Karen Phillips who all won Olympic medals and the 

wonderful Susie Moroney who made a double crossing of the English Channel. At one stage 

90% of schools in Kogarah and St George area used it, in February this year, five schools 

were booked to hold their swimming carnivals at Carss Park, – adults learned to swim there, 

toddlers used the second shallow pool built in 1968.  We hope this is not the end of the story 

and that a decision is made to build another swimming centre on this beautiful site to become 

a world class facility for teaching water safety, training and recreation. 
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First Swim Squad in 1966 


